RECEIVED

Feb 12 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
HON. MARVIN H. DUKES
MASTER IN EQUITY

APPELLATE CASE # 2023-000438

GEORGIA HARRISON, BARBARA HARRISON,
JOYCE ELLEN HARRISON, WILLIAM S. HARRISON, III,
STANLEY ROBERTS AND DIANA MENDHEIM INDIVIDUALLY
AND AS AGENT AND ATTORNEY IN FACT,

RESPONDENTS

vs.

STEPHANIE LORRAINE KIRKLAND, GARY LAMONT
KIRKLAND, KIETA NICOLE WHITE, CHERYL KIRKLAND,
WILLIAM CHARLES KIRKLAND, PAULETTE KIRKLAND,
PAUL T. ALLBRIGHT, CHRISTOPHER KIRKLAND AND
SHAWN KIRKLAND,

DEFENDANTS

OF WHOM STEPHANIE LORRAINE KIRKLAND,
GARY LAMONT KIRKLAND, KEITA NICOLE WHITE AND

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1

DOES SOUTH CAROLINA LAW ALLOW A PARTY TO AVOID STATUTORY JURISDICTIONAL PREREQUISITES REQUIRED BY S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-61-310, *ET SEQ.* OF THE CLEMENTE C PINCKNEY ACT BY SIMPLY ENTERING A CONSENT ORDER?

2

WHEN STATUTORY JURISDICTIONAL PREREQUISITES ARE NOT COMPLIED WITH, DO ANY SUBSEQUENT ORDERS OF THE COURT RETAIN ANY VALIDITY OR BECOME NULL AND VOID FOR LACK OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION?

3

DOES AN OXYMORON OF MEANING EXISTS TO CLASSIFY THE ORDER OF THE COURT DATED OCTOBER 20, 2021 AS A FINAL ORDER WHEN (1) A PROVISION WITHIN THE ORDER CALLS FOR THE PUBLICATION OF THE SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT; (2) NO FORM FOR ORDER ACCOMPANIED TO STATE THAT THE ORDER ENDED THE CASE; (3) WHERE THE COMPLAINT STATED A CAUSE OF ACTION TO QUIET TITLE HAD BEEN BROUGHT AND WAS NEVER WITHDRAWN AND FOR WHICH THE DEFENDANT ANSWERED AND PARTICIPATED IN THE ACTION RELYING UPON THE RELIEF BEING GRANTED AS PRAYED FOR IN THE COMPLAINT; AND (4) THE ORDER PURPORTEDLY CONCLUDED THE PROCEEDING WITHOUT HAVING THE PREREQUISITE EVIDENTIARY HEARING? **(R. pp. 16-21)**

4

WAS THE LOWER COURT IN ERROR UPON RULING THAT IT LACKED JURISDICTION TO HEAR THE DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OF ITS ORDER OF OCTOBER 20, 2021 NECESSITATING THE APPELLATE COURT NOW RULE UPON THE MATTERS SET FORTH IN SAID MOTION? **(R. pp. 16-21)**

5

OTHER THAN THE SPECIFIC LIMITED AUTHORITY GRANTED TO A MASTER IN EQUITY ("MIE") BY SOUTH CAROLINA CODE OF LAWS §14-11-10 ET SEQ., DOES A MIE HAVE THE JUDICIAL AUTHORITY TO

CONVEY LAND THAT IS THE *IN REM* SUBJECT MATTER IN AN ACTION TO QUIET TITLE?

6

ASSUMING ARGUENDO THAT A MIE HAS THE AUTHORITY TO CONVEY LAND IN AN ACTION TO QUIET TITLE, DOES THE JUDICIAL DOCTRINE OF *STARE DECISIS* AND THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE US CONSTITUTION AND THE GUARANTEE OF EQUAL PROTECTION UNDER THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE 1 §3 OF THE SC CONSTITUTION PROHIBITION AGAINST THE TAKING OF PROPERTY WITHOUT DUE COMPENSATION REQUIRE THE MIE TO WITHHOLD CONVEYING THE PROPERTY WHEN THE DEFENDANTS WERE IN THE PROCESS OF EXERCISING THEIR “RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL AND AFTERWARDS AGREE TO CONVEY THE LAND TO FACILITATE THE PLAINTIFFS PURPORTED CONTRACT OF SALE?

7

WERE THE TERMS ISSUED BY THE COURT IN THE OCTOBER 20, 2021 ORDER FOR DEFENDANTS TO EXERCISE THEIR “RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL “ AS PROVIDED BY THE CLEMENTA C. PINCKNEY ACT ECONOMICALLY AND PRAGMATICALLY UNCONSCIONABLE GIVEN DEFENDANTS WERE REQUIRED BY SAID ORDER TO DEPOSIT \$8,993,359.10 WITH THE COURT WITHOUT ANY PROVISIONS BEING MADE FOR THE PROPERTY TO BE CONVEYED TO THEM AND WITHOUT WARRANTY OF TITLE AND WITHOUT PROVISIONS FOR THE DEPOSIT TO BE APPLIED TO THE PURCHASE PRICE OF 9.1 MILLION AND NO PROVISIONS FOR THE REFUNDING OF THE PURCHASE PRICE THUS EFFECTIVELY ELIMINATING THE DEFENDANTS’ EXERCISE OF THEIR RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL (A PROPERTY RIGHT) AND CONSTITUTING A TAKING OF A PROPERTY RIGHT AS GUARANTEED BY ARTICLE 1 § 3 OF THE SC CONSTITUTION AND THE ENUMERATED AMENDMENTS OF THE U.S. CONSTITUTION BEEN INFRINGED UPON BY HAVING BEEN DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND THE EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAWS IN THIS PROCEEDING? **(R. pp. 16-21)**

8

DID MASTER’S DEED ENTERED BY COURT MAY 24, 2023 CONTRAVENE THE PINCKNEY ACT AND DEPRIVE RESPONDENTS OF DUE PROCESS OF LAW? **(R. pp. 43-49)**

2

9

IS MASTER’S DEED VOID AS A MATTER OF LAW BECAUSE IT FAILS TO ESTABLISH DEFINITE DEADLINE TO CLOSE ON SALE OF PROPERTY TO THIRD PARTY PURCHASER?

10

DID COURT ERR IN FAILING TO ORDER SALE OF THE PROPERTY ON OPEN MARKET, SEALED BID OR AUCTION?

11

DID MIE EXCEED JURISDICTIONAL AUTHORITY BY ISSURING MASTER’S DEED CONVEYING DEFENDANTS’ INTEREST IN PROPERTY AGAINST THEIR CONSENT IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 15-61-400 OF THE PINCKNEY ACT WHICH REQUIRES OPEN MARKET SALE, SEALED BID OR AUCTION UPON RULING TO PARTITION HEIR PROPERTY?

STATEMENT OF CASE

This is an action filed by the Respondents to quiet title filed under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-67-10 *et seq.* and to Partition the land by sale, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-61-10 *et seq.* and to quiet title under the Pinckney Act (S.C. Code Ann. § 15-61-310, *et seq.*) The Summons and Complaint were filed on November 24, 2020, and the Complaint advised the court and the defendants in November of 2020, of a pending contract that had been entered into by the Respondents to sell the property at issue to Rotunda Land & Development Group, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company (“Rotunda”) for \$9,100,000.00. **(R. pp. 50-60)** See the Affidavit of Andre Johnny White (the “White Affidavit”) filed in support of the Respondents’ Return to the Appellants’ original Motion for Stay filed on March 28, 2022, and Exhibits A and B thereto.

3

The property at issue is a tract of approximately 26.462 acres located on the north end of Hilton Head Island in Beaufort County (the “Property”), which has been through two previous quiet title actions pursuant to South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 71 E. Given that this suit included a partition action, the Circuit Court was empowered to determine the title and interest in the real property of the several parties to the action. In response to the Complaint, counsel for some of the Appellants/Defendants filed an Answer on January 7, 2021. **(R. pp. 61-64)**. The Answer generically refers to Defendants but does not identify which Defendants the Answer is on behalf of or whether all named Defendants appeared as not all Defendants were served in the case. The case was then referred to the Beaufort County Master in Equity.

On May 21, 2021, counsel for the Plaintiffs and prior counsel for some Defendants presented what was styled as a joint Consent Order to the Court purportedly evidencing a written agreement between them that the Property is owned in indivision by the Plaintiffs, the represented Co-Owners, and the Defendants, and that Consent Order provided a detailed “Exhibit A” setting forth the mutually agreed upon undivided interest percentages of each party. The Master in Equity signed and filed the Consent Order on May 21, 2021. **(R. pp. 7-10)** See Exhibit E to the White Affidavit. At that time, the Respondents owned an undivided approximately

99.192707 percent interest in the Property and the Appellants owned an undivided 0.807293 percent interest in the Property. **(R. pp. 9)**

Once the partition portion of the case had been purportedly resolved by the May 21, 2021 Consent Order and all owners of the property specifically identified by percentage ownership, the parties and counsels moved forward under the (Clementa C. Pinckney Act) § 15-61-310 S. C. Code of Laws Ann. *et. seq.* to determine the fair market value of the 26.462 acres and on September 15, 2021, the court entered an order pursuant to § 15-61-360 B, S.C. Code Ann, establishing the fair market value of the 26.462 acres at \$9,100,000 despite Respondents own acknowledgment that the only appraisal set the value at 9,756,100. **(R. p. 11)** *See* Plaintiffs Memorandum in Support of Motion to Set Fair Market Value dated August 30, 2021.

By Order dated October 20, 2021, the lower court established the fair market value of the property at \$9,100,000 and required Defendants to pay \$8,993,359.10 into the court by December 22, 2021. **(October 20, 2021 Order, p 4-5.) (R. pp. 19-20)**

Appellants, pursuant to Rule 52(b), Rule 54(b), Rule 59 (a)(2) and (e), and Rule 60(b)(2), SCRCF, moved the lower to alter or amend the Orders of the court entered on January 20, 2022, October 20, 2021 and May 21, 2021 in the following particulars:

1. To amend the findings of fact and conclusions of law or make new findings and conclusions and direct the entry of a new judgment in the case herein;
2. Request the court to reconsider matters properly encompassed in a decision on the merits;
3. To rule upon motions that have not been addressed upon the merits of the issues raised in this proceeding;
4. To set forth the court's findings, the reasons for those findings and conclusion of law;
5. To open the judgment if one has been entered, take additional testimony, amend findings of fact and conclusions of law;
6. Receive newly discovered evidence; and
7. Make new findings and conclusions and direct the entry of a new judgment. **(R. pp. 122-129)**

On January 6, 2022, the Court heard Defendants' Motion for Relief & Extension of Time & Realignment of Heirs, and Defendants. Attached thereto was the transcript of said hearing in its entirety. **(Jan. 6, 2022 Tr. p. 15, line 15 – p. 16, line 18) (R. p. 220, line 15 – p. 221, line 18)**. The Court specifically ruled during the January 6, 2022 hearing that the provisions of the October 20, 2021 order were unappealable because no motion for reconsideration was filed, such that the order of October 20, 2021 could not be modified. **(Jan. 6, 2022 Tr. p. 15, line 15 – p. 16, line 18) (R. p. 220, line 15 – p. 221, line 18). (R. pp. 16-21)**

On January 20, 2022, the Court entered an order generally denying relief without making specific findings, rulings and conclusions of law as required by Rule 52(a), SCRCPP, and without sufficiently addressing: **(R. pp. 22-24)**

1. Defendants' Motion to modify the terms of the October 20, 2021 order. **(R. pp. 16-21)** Additionally, the

Court did not rule on Defendants' Motion for Relief of Judgment and for Extension of Time to Tender Purchase Price and Right of First Refusal filed December 22, 2021; **(R. pp. 68-90)**

2. Defendants' Amended Supplemental Motion for Relief of Judgment and for extension of time to Tender Purchase Price under Right of First Refusal filed January 5, 2022 **(R. pp. 100-108)**; and

3. Defendants' Objections to Proposed Order filed January 11, 2022. **(R. pp. 109-113).**

To the extent that the January 20, 2022 order addressed its inability to modify the October 20, 2021, it was in error. *See* Rule 54(b), *cited above*. Appellants' foregoing appeal includes an appeal of the orders of May 21, 2021 and October 22, 2021 orders, neither of which were appealable at the time they were issued but are now subject to appellate review (combined with an appeal from a final order) pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §14-3-330(1), (2) and S.C. Code Ann. §14-3-330(3).

At the heart of this matter is a determination of how a court, in equity, may effectuate the purpose and intent of the Pinckney Act. As specifically set forth in Defendants' motion to the lower court dated December 22, 2022, and the hearing on January 6, 2022, Defendants within a 60-day window identified a partner to purchase the heir property and participate in the development of the property. The proposal Defendants put forth to the Plaintiffs put Plaintiffs in a better position than the contract Plaintiffs previously brought before the court. Additionally, defendants' developer partner has the financial wherewithal to quickly close on the purchase of the property once technical impediments are removed. **(May 15, 2023 Tr. p. 51, line**

6 – p. 54, line 22); (R. p. 534, line 6 – p. 537, line 22); (R. pp. 206-261) Appellants requested specific finding of facts, conclusions of law and rulings of the Court set forth below.

1. The Plaintiffs' Complaint on its face admits that there are at least two un-probated estates, with unknown heirs, which have not been established to include persons who are or may be under some disability or a minor and thus the Complaint is subject to being dismissed pursuant to SCRCF 12(b)(4).

2. There are at least four un-probated estates of heirs, two coming into existence since the Publication of the Summons and with unknown heirs, which have not been established to include persons who are or may be under some disability or a minor and thus the Complaint should be dismissed pursuant to SCRCF 12(b)(6).

3. Defendants sought a ruling that the Plaintiffs have failed to join necessary parties and, therefore, the Complaint should be dismissed pursuant to SCRCF 12(b)(7).

4. Defendants sought a finding of fact or ruling that an evidentiary hearing has not been provided to the Defendants, though requested and as required to receive evidence pertaining to their factual denials of Paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4 11, 14, 15, 20 22, 26, 27 28, 29,30, and 31, of the Complaint.

5. Defendants sought a finding of fact and ruling by the Court that the Plaintiff's Complaint never requested the court to certify that the co-tenants be bestowed or endowed with the fee simple absolute title to the property subject to this action.

6. Defendants sought a finding of fact and ruling by the Court whether the title to the property subject to this action has been at all times from the commencement of this action and remains "Heirs Title" property.

7. Defendants sought a finding of fact and ruling by the Court that the present title status of the property does not meet the "marketable title standard as set forth in *Scalise*

Dev., Inc. v. Tidelands Investments., LLC, 392 S.C. 27, 707 S.E.2d 440 (Ct. App. 2011). (Principle that to have the cloud on the title removed is to receive fee simple title to property. *Clark v. Hargrave*, 323 S.C. 84, 87, 473 S.E.2d 474, 476 (Ct. App. 1996). *May v. Jeter*, 245 S.C. 529, 534, 141 S.E.2d 655, 658 (1965), *Major v. Penn Community Services., Inc.*, 395 S.C. 175, 717 S.E.2d 70 (Ct. App. 2011)).

8. Defendants sought a finding of fact and ruling by the Court whether the contract tendered by Defendants in which Defendants would maintain an equity participation in the development of the property is more consistent with the legislative goals and purposes of the Clementa Pinckney Act than the straight contract for purchase proffered by the Plaintiffs under which they would be bought out and then permanently removed from their heritage land.

9. Defendants sought a finding of fact and ruling by the Court whether that Defendants had demonstrated a sufficient showing of its capabilities and financial resources to fulfill the purchase of the property.

10. Defendants sought a finding of fact and ruling by the Court whether a deed of conveyance either with or without marketable title was in preparedness to be delivered to Defendants or their designee on December 23, 2021.

11. Defendants sought a finding of fact and ruling by the Court whether the Property was available to be mortgaged by Defendants on December 23, 2021.

12. Defendants sought a finding of fact and ruling by the Court whether a conflict of interest exist with counsel for the Plaintiffs who represents parties both in this action and in one or more of the open estates; (see Affidavit of Keita White) especially where the relief sought by their clients solely seeks to confirm the percentage ownership among the family heirs and not clear the title to the land knowing that without a marketable title and is unjust impediment has been created to prevent Defendants or their designee from purchasing the property.

13. Did the Court commit an abuse of discretion as a matter of law by not granting the Defendants request for 45 days to have a hearing to receive testimonial evidence to determine the heirs of the estates of the four deceased heirs and to tender the purchase price, with the Defendants depositing ten percent (10%) down with the court and also paying to the Plaintiffs the amount of 9.7 million in lieu of the appraisal price?

14. Did the Court commit an abuse of discretion as a matter of law by not granting the Defendants an extension of time to tender the purchase price in light of the fact that the Clementa C. Pinckney Act provides for a minimum of 60 days for heirs exercising their Right of First Refusal to complete the purchase especially where the 60 day period allotted to the Defendants is commercially impossible to achieve, especially considering the large purchase price and the cloudy title encumbered upon the property rendering it useless for loan collateral purposes?

15. Have the Defendants property rights under the provisions of Article 1 § 3 of the SC Constitution and the enumerated Amendments of the U.S. Constitution been infringed upon by having been denied due process of law and the equal protection of the laws in this proceeding?

On January 20, 2022, the Court denied Defendants' Motion for Relief of Judgment and for Extension of Time to Tender Purchase Price Under Right of First Refusal and Motion for Realignment of Parties filed on December 22, 2021.

(R. pp. 22-24); (R. pp. 68-90)

Defendants filed a Motion for Reconsideration of January 20, 2022 Order, and the Court denied said motion by Order dated March 7, 2022. **(R. pp. 22-24);**

(R. pp. 25-26)

On March 1, 2022, Defendants/Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal with South Carolina Court of Appeals regarding the Court's Orders of March 7, 2022, January 20, 2022, October 20, 2021, and September 15, 2021, designated as Appellate Case No. 2022-000277 (“Appeal 1”). **(R. pp. 11-15); (R. pp. 16-21); (R. pp. 22-24); (R. pp. 25-26).** On March 1, 2022, the Defendants filed an Amended Notice of Appeal.

Appellants filed a Motion to Stay with the South Carolina Court of Appeals. On June 23, 2022, the Appellate Court denied the Appellant’s motion seeking an automatic stay intended to stay the sale of the Property. On November 1, 2022, the Appellate Court denied the Appellants' petition for a supersedeas intended to block the sale of the Property pursuant to Court’s Order dated October 20, 2021. Thereafter, the South Carolina Supreme Court, by its Order January 25, 2023, in Appellate Case No. 2022-001628, denied Appellants' motion for a writ of mandamus regarding stay of the sale of the Property.

Defendants/Appellants filed its Motion for a Stay and Waiver of Supersedeas Bond with the lower Court. **(R. pp. 152-162)** On November 7, 2022, the lower Court denied said motion for a stay and waiver of supersedeas bond intended to block the sale of the Property. **(R. pp. 27-37)** The November 7, 2022 Order authorized the execution of a Master's Deed conveying title to the Property. **(R. pp. 27-37)** Defendants thereafter filed a Motion for Reconsideration of lower Court’s November 7, 2022 Order. **(R. pp. 163-**

169) On March 8, 2023, the Court denied Defendants' Motion for Reconsideration of its Order of November 7, 2022. **(R. pp. 38-39); (R. pp. 27-37)**

On March 13, 2023, the Defendants filed the foregoing Notice of Appeal with the South Carolina Court of Appeals regarding the lower Court's Orders of November 7, 2022 and March 8, 2022. **(R. pp. 27-37); (R. pp. 170-171).**

On March 15, 2023, Appellants' First Appeal was dismissed by the South Carolina Court of Appeals, and that case was remitted to lower Court on April 5, 2023.

On April 5, 2023, the lower Court held a status conference. **(R. pp. 441-483)** Plaintiffs petitioned the lower Court to issue a Master's Deed. Plaintiffs represented numerous times that they were prepared to close on the Rotunda contact (over Defendants' objection); however, the reality is that Plaintiffs are unable to close on the sale of the property without the Court's assistance to get marketable title. This is the same assurance and direction that the Defendants sought from the Court in December 2021. **(R. pp. 70-73)** At that time, Defendants were advised by the Court that the Court was not prepared to take any action at all and that Defendants would receive only what Plaintiffs could transfer to them. **(See Transcript, January 6, 2022 at 37:12 – 38:11); (R. pp. 242:12 – 243:11).** Now that Plaintiffs and Rotunda are attempting to secure title insurance, they, too, need assistance from the Court. Plaintiffs' counsel represented in status conference held April 5, 2023 that the

Rotunda contract required the parties to close on April 21, 2023. (See **Transcript, April 5, 2023 at 10:17-21**); (R. p. 450:17-21). Defendants objected to Plaintiffs' proposed Master's Deed because it failed to acknowledge the pending appeal.¹ After the objection was raised, counsel for Plaintiffs and Rotunda questioned whether the title company would issue title insurance given the pending appeal. Rotunda is not prepared to close without marketable title to the Property.

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