RECEIVED

Feb 22 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Master-In-Equity

The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master-In-Equity  
Beaufort County  
Trial Court Case No. 2020-CP-07-2301

---

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000438

---

Georgia Harrison, Barbara Harrison, Joyce Ellen  
Harrison, William S. Harrison III, Stanley Roberts,  
and Diana Mendheim, individually and as agent  
and attorney in fact,

Respondents,

vs.

Stephanie Lorraine Kirkland, Gary Lamont Kirkland,  
Keita Nicole White, Cheryl Kirkland, William  
Charles Kirkland, Paulette Kirkland, Paul T. Allbright,  
Christopher Kirkland and Shawn Kirkland,

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

Specifically reserving the argument that this appeal should be dismissed because it seeks review of two interlocutory orders, the Respondents hereinbelow address each of the arguments set forth in the Appellants' Brief:

### As to Appellants' First Designated Issue On Appeal

The Appellants herein list their first designated issue on appeal as: “Does South Carolina Law allow a party to avoid statutory jurisdictional prerequisites required by S.C. Code Annot. § 15-61-310, et seq. of the Clemente C Pinckney Act by simply entering a consent order?” Then they state: “Defendants seek a ruling that the court’s May 21, 2021 Order is void, set aside and of no further effect.” See p. 18 of Appellant’s Brief.

Neither of the two Orders from which the Appellants herein appeal, relate to nor gave rise to, this first “Designated Issue on Appeal” and thus, this argument should be rejected without further consideration. The November 7, 2022, Order under appeal in this action denied the Defendants’/Appellants’ Motion in the Master in Equity court for a Stay and granted the Petitioners’/Respondents’ Motion for Issuance of Master’s Deed. (R. pp 27-37) The other Order under appeal herein is Judge Dukes’ March 8, 2023 Order, declining to reconsider or change the November 7, 2022 substantive Order.

This Court should also decline consideration of this “Designated Issue on Appeal” because, although the Appellants set forth differing arguments asserting that there “were multiple prerequisite jurisdictional requirements that were not satisfied” early in the case, the gravamen of the “First Designated Issue on Appeal” is that the May 21, 2021 Order of Judge Dukes (a Consent Order), was in error. That Order was never appealed and thus is the law of the case. Under the law of the case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that were either not raised on appeal, but should have been, or raised on appeal, but expressly rejected by the appellate court. Judy v. Martin, 381 S.C. 455, 674 S.E.2d 151 (2009), citing C.J.S. Appeal and Error Section 991 (2008), and Bakala v. Bakala, 352 S.C. 612, 576 S.E.2d 156 (2003). *See also In*

re Morrison, 321 S.C. 370, n.2, 468 S.E.2d 651 n.2 (1996)(noting that an unappealed ruling becomes the law of the case and precludes further consideration of the issue on appeal.)

No motion to alter or amend was timely filed as to Judge Dukes' Order of May 21, 2021, and no appeal was timely taken from that Order. However, these same Defendants/Appellants did file an appeal to this Court on March 9, 2022, appealing Judge Dukes' Orders of September 15, 2021; October 20, 2021; January 20, 2022 and March 7, 2022. That appeal, assigned Appeal No. 2022-000277, was dismissed on March 15, 2023. The Appellants therein filed three (3) Initial Briefs in that case, one filed on October 17, 2022; one filed on November 2, 2022; and one filed on November 14, 2022. In their first filed Initial Brief of October 17, 2022, these Appellants noted the May 21, 2021 Order in their Statement of the Case, (see unpaginated page number 7), but they did not address it in their arguments in that brief. However, in their second-filed Initial Brief in 2022-000277 on November 2, 2022, these Appellants made these specific arguments almost verbatim ("South Carolina law does not allow a party to avoid statutory prerequisites by Section S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-61-310, *et seq.* known as the Clemente C Pinckney [sic] Act by simply entering a Consent Order?" (See page 16 of the Amended Initial Brief of November 2, 2022.) And then again, in their third-filed Amended Initial Brief in 2022-000277 on November 14, 2022, these same Appellants made the identical argument as to the May 21, 2021 Order at pages 16-18.

Appeal No. 2022-000277 was dismissed on March 15, 2023 and a remittitur issued on April 5, 2023. The May 21, 2021, Order is the law of case. *See also* Cooper Tire & Rubber Co. v. Perry et al., 261 S.C. 538, 201 S.E.2d 245 (1973), and Watkins v. Hodge, 232 S.C. 245, 101 S.E.2d 657 (1958)(refusing to consider jurisdictional matter of underlying case where issue had been ruled upon and not challenged on appeal.)

Should this Court choose to reach the merits of Argument No. 1, the Respondents assert that a plain reading of the Pinckney Act specifically allowed Judge Dukes to enter the May 21, 2021 Order and the Appellants provide no legal argument that it does not. The single case cited by the Appellants in their first argument, Byrd v. McDonald (incorrectly cited by Appellants as “Byrd v. Johnson”) 417 S.C. 474, 791 S.E.2d 200 (2016), actually holds the exact opposite of the proposition posited by the Appellants in their Brief and affirms the Circuit Court’s jurisdiction over partition actions. Although the Appellants assert that Byrd holds “When there are pending probate matters, the probate court has subject matter jurisdiction relating to partition of property,” (Brief at pp. 18-19), the Court of Appeals actually held in Byrd: “We find the probate court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the partition action.” The Court of Appeals went on to note that the circuit court was vested with jurisdiction over partition actions under S.C. Code Annot. Section 15-61-50. *Id.* at 480-481.

As to Appellants’ Second Designated Issue On Appeal

The Appellants list their second designated issue on appeal as: “When statutory jurisdictional prerequisites are not complied with, do any subsequent orders of the Court retain any validity or become null and void for lack of subject matter jurisdiction?” However, the Appellants then proceed in their Brief at page 21, to make as their “Argument 2,” an argument that the Court’s Order dated October 20, 2021, was not a final order and they do mention anything about jurisdictional prerequisites not being complied with. Thus, the Respondents respectfully urge the Court to not to consider the Appellants’ “Argument 2” as it was not set forth in the Statement of Issues on Appeal. SCACR 208(b)(1)(B).

Should this Court be inclined to consider the merits of Argument 2, the Respondents again, as above, point out that the October 20, 2021 Order was never timely appealed from, no Motion to Alter or Amend was timely made, and thus it is also the law of the case. For the sake of judicial economy, the Respondents refer the Court to their argument above concerning the Respondents' "Argument 1," and crave reference to the citations therein. And further, as with the Appellants' Argument 1 above, the exact same argument (literally) was made in the Appellants' November 2, 2022 and November 14, 2022 "Amended" Initial Briefs filed in Appeal No. 2022-000277, which was dismissed on March 15, 2023. Under the law of the case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that were either not raised on appeal, but should have been, or raised on appeal, but expressly rejected by the appellate court. Judy v. Martin, 381 S.C. 455, 674 S.E.2d 151 (2009) (citations omitted).

In addition, as noted above in response to Argument No. 1, nothing about either the issue set forth in the Statement of Issues on Appeal, No. 2, nor argued in the body of the brief as Argument 2, relates to nor arises from either of the two Orders under appeal in this case.

#### As to Appellants' Third Designated Issue On Appeal

The Appellants list their third designated issue on appeal as: Does an oxymoron of meaning exists to classify the order of the Court dated October 20, 2021, as a final order when (1) a provision within the order calls for the publication of the summons and complaint; (2) no form for order accompanied to state that the order ended the case; (3) where the complaint stated a cause of action to quiet title had been brought and was never withdrawn and for which the Defendant answered and participated in the action relying upon the relief being granted as prayed for in the complaint;

and (4) the order purportedly concluded the proceeding without having the prerequisite evidentiary hearing?

In response to Argument No. 3, the Respondents again, as above, point out that the October 20, 2021, Order was never timely appealed from and thus is the law of the case. For the sake of judicial economy, the Respondents refer the Court to their argument above concerning the Respondents' "Argument 1 and Argument 2," and crave reference to the citations therein. And further, as with the Appellants' Arguments 1 and 2 above, the exact same argument (literally) was made in the Appellants' November 2, 2022 and November 14, 2022 "Amended" Initial Briefs filed in Appeal No. 2022-000277, which was dismissed on March 15, 2023. Under the law of the case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that were either not raised on appeal, but should have been, or raised on appeal, but expressly rejected by the appellate court. Judy v. Martin, 381 S.C. 455, 674 S.E.2d 151 (2009) (citations omitted).

In addition, as noted above in response to Arguments No. 1 and 2, nothing about an "oxymoron of meaning" existing to "classify the order of the Court dated October 20, 2021 as a final order," relates to nor arises from either of the two Orders under appeal in this case. And further, no such argument was ever made to the lower court and the Appellants are thus precluded from raising it herein. "It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review." Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 529 S.E.2d 543 (2000). "Error preservation requirements are intended "to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments." On v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000).

As to Appellants' Fourth Designated Issue On Appeal

The Appellants list their fourth designated matter on appeal as: Was the Lower Court in error upon ruling that it lacked jurisdiction to hear the Defendants' Motion For Reconsideration of its Order of October 20, 2021 necessitating the Appellate Court now rule upon the matters set forth in said motion?

In response to Argument No. 4, the Respondents again, as above, point out that the October 20, 2021, Order was never timely appealed from and thus is the law of the case.

But by this fourth argument, the Appellants are now seeking this Court's second review of two additional Orders that these Appellants have already placed before this Court in an earlier appeal (2022-000277) that has been dismissed. Argument 4 basically asserts that Judge Dukes' Orders of January 20, 2022 (denying the Defendants/Appellants' December 22, 2021 "Motion For Relief of Judgment and For Extension of Time to Tender Purchase Price Under Right of First Refusal and Motion for Realignment of Parties as filed December 22, 2021; the Defendants/Appellants' January 5, 2022 Supplemental Motion for Relief of Judgment and For Extension of Time to Tender Purchase Price Under First Right of Refusal; and the Defendants/Appellants' January 5, 2022 Amended Supplemental Motion for Relief of Judgment and For Extension of Time To Tender Purchase Price Under Right of First Refusal) was also in error. In that Order, Judge Dukes stated: "The October 20, 2021 Order in this case, which set a date of December 22, 2021 for the Defendants to pay their apportioned prices in to the Court, was not appealed nor was a timely Motion to Alter or Amend pursuant to Rule 59 SCRCP filed. Therefore, the October 20, 2021 Order is final and I am without jurisdiction to reconsider or amend that Order, even if I desired to do so." (R. p. 23, lines 12-16)

For the sake of judicial economy, the Respondents refer the Court to their argument above concerning the Respondents' Arguments 1,2 and 3," and crave reference to the citations therein. And further, as with the Appellants' Arguments 1, 2 and 3 above, the exact same argument (literally) set forth in Argument 4, was made in the Appellants' November 2, 2022 and November 14, 2022 "Amended" Initial Briefs filed in Appeal No. 2022-000277, which was dismissed on March 15, 2023. Under the law of the case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that were either not raised on appeal, but should have been, or raised on appeal, but expressly rejected by the appellate court. Judy v. Martin, 381 S.C. 455, 674 S.E.2d 151 (2009) (citations omitted).

In addition, as noted above in response to Arguments No. 1,2 and 3, nothing about the October 20, 2021 Order (nor the January 20, 2022 Order)," relates to nor arises from either of the two Orders under appeal in this case.

#### As to Appellants' Fifth Designated Issue On Appeal

The Appellants list their fifth designated issue on appeal as: "Other than the specific limited authority granted to a Master In Equity ("Master In Equity") by South Carolina Code of Laws §14-11-10 *et seq.*, does a Master In Equity have the judicial authority to convey land that is the *in rem* subject matter in an action to quiet title?"

As with the Appellants' Arguments 1,2,3 and 4 above, the exact same argument (literally) was made in the Appellants' November 2, 2022 and November 14, 2022 "Amended" Initial Briefs filed in Appeal No. 2022-000277, which was dismissed on March 15, 2023. Under the law of the case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that

were either not raised on appeal, but should have been, or raised on appeal, but expressly rejected by the appellate court. Judy v. Martin, 381 S.C. 455, 674 S.E.2d 151 (2009) (citations omitted).

And further, no such argument was ever made to the lower court and the Appellants are thus precluded from raising it herein. “It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.” Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 529 S.E.2d 543 (2000). “Error preservation requirements are intended “to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” I’On v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). The Orders currently under appeal (of November 7, 2022 and March 8, 2023) relate to the Respondents/Appellants’ September 7, 2022 Motion For Stay and Waiver of Supersedeas Bond Or In The Alternative A Nominal Bond Pending Appeal and the Plaintiffs/Respondents March 14, 2022 Amended Motion For Master’s Deed.

The Defendants/Appellants did not raise the issue of the Master’s authority to convey the land to the lower court in their Motion For Stay and Waiver of Supersedeas Bond. Thus, the issue is not properly before the Court.

Should this Court determine to reach the merits of Argument No. 5, the Respondents refer the Court to the specific authority granted Judge Dukes under South Carolina Code Annot. Section 15-61-50 and the Pinckney Act, S.C. Code Annot. Section 15-61-310 et. seq. “The Court of common pleas has jurisdiction in all cases of real and personal estates held in joint tenancy or in common to make partition in kind or by allotment to one or more parties upon their accounting to the other parties in interest for their respective shares or in case partition in kind or by allotment cannot be fairly and impartially made and without injury to any of the parties in interest, by the

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